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·1· · · · · · · · · · · · ·- - - - -

·2· · · · · · · · · ·P R O C E E D I N G S

·3· · · · · · · · · · · · - - - - -

·4· · · · · · · ·MS. MARSHALL:· Good morning.· Before we

·5· · begin, I would like to go over some instructions

·6· · for this video and telephone conference.

·7· · · · · · · ·If you have joined online, please mute

·8· · your microphone.· If you have called in via phone,

·9· · please use the "mute" feature of your phone.· Once

10· · the hearing begins, everyone will be muted except

11· · for those presenting.· If you have called in, you

12· · can unmute yourself by pressing "star 6".

13· · · · · · · ·Witnesses for the Applicant and anyone

14· · wishing to make comments, please wait to be

15· · individually called upon by your attorney or by

16· · the Division before speaking.· Please mute your

17· · microphones anytime you are not speaking and when

18· · you have finished presenting to avoid any

19· · feedback.

20· · · · · · · ·I am now asking anyone who would like

21· · to make comments, please state your name slowly

22· · and clearly for the Division and identify whether

23· · you are an unleased mineral owner, working

24· · interest owner, or an owner with property in the
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·1· · Rubel SE unit.· I would also like this information

·2· · from anyone who represents any of these persons.

·3· · We will make note of your name and call upon you

·4· · when it's time for comments.· If you have joined

·5· · us via WebEx, please unmute yourself now and tell

·6· · us your name if you wish to make comments.

·7· · · · · · · ·MR. KASIMOS:· My name is George

·8· · Kasimos, and I'm from Senecaville, Ohio.

·9· · · · · · · ·MS. MARSHALL:· Could you spell your

10· · last name, please?

11· · · · · · · ·MR. KASIMOS:· K-a-s as in "Sam," i-m as

12· · in "Mary," o-s.· And it's Buffalo Hills RV Resort.

13· · · · · · · ·MS. MARSHALL:· Okay.· And are you a

14· · mineral interest owner or --

15· · · · · · · ·MR. KASIMOS:· Owner.

16· · · · · · · ·MS. MARSHALL:· Owner.· Okay.

17· · · · · · · ·MR. KASIMOS:· Yeah.· We have no -- they

18· · gave us an offer.· That's it.

19· · · · · · · ·MS. MARSHALL:· Okay.· Well, we will

20· · call your name again when it comes time for

21· · comments.

22· · · · · · · ·MR. KASIMOS:· Okay.· Thank you.

23· · · · · · · ·MS. MARSHALL:· You're welcome.

24· · · · · · · ·Is there anyone else?
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·1· · · · · · · ·Hearing none.

·2· · · · · · · ·If you have joined us via phone, please

·3· · unmute yourself by pressing "star 6" and tell us

·4· · your name if you wish to make comments.

·5· · · · · · · ·Hearing none.

·6· · · · · · · ·Thank you.· With that, we will begin

·7· · the hearing.

·8· · · · · · · ·Ms. Barrett.

·9· · · · · · · ·MS. BARRETT:· Thank you, and good

10· · morning.· Today is Thursday, December 18th, 2025.

11· · And we're here on the matter of the application of

12· · INR Ohio, LLC for unit operation of the Rubel SE

13· · unit.· This hearing before the Ohio Department of

14· · Natural Resources, Division of Oil and Gas

15· · Resources Management, is convened pursuant to Ohio

16· · Revised Code Section 1509.28.· My name is Jennifer

17· · Barrett, and I am an administrative officer for

18· · the Division.· Also with me today is Program

19· · Administrator Cynthia Marshall.· We are conducting

20· · the hearing today and serve as the Chief's

21· · designees on this matter.

22· · · · · · · ·On October 23rd, 2025, INR filed with

23· · the Division an application for unit operations

24· · for a unit designated as the Rubel SE unit.· INR
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·1· · filed subsequent revisions to the application.

·2· · The unit is proposed to be located in Guernsey and

·3· · Noble Counties, Ohio.· In its application, INR

·4· · claims to have the mineral rights through

·5· · voluntary agreements to approximately 650.5517

·6· · acres of the desired approximate 858.6867-acre

·7· · unit.

·8· · · · · · · ·The purpose of today's hearing is to

·9· · determine whether INR's Rubel SE unit application

10· · meets all of the requirements of Revised Code

11· · Section 1509.28.· Under that section, the Chief of

12· · the Division must issue an order if he determines

13· · that the Applicant has shown that, one, the unit

14· · is reasonably necessary to increase substantially

15· · the ultimate recovery of oil and gas; and two, the

16· · estimated additional recovery from the unit

17· · exceeds the additional cost.

18· · · · · · · ·Neither the Chief nor any of us here

19· · today have made any decisions on INR's

20· · application.· After today's hearing, we will

21· · review all the information provided to us in order

22· · to make a determination.· We have a court reporter

23· · present as well, and we'll have a copy of the

24· · transcript of this hearing for review.
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·1· · · · · · · ·The Chief's decision will be issued

·2· · through a Chief's Order, which will be posted on

·3· · the Division's website pursuant to Revised Code

·4· · Section 1509.36.· Any order may be appealed within

·5· · 30 days after the date upon which the person to

·6· · whom the order was issued received the order, and

·7· · for all other persons adversely affected by the

·8· · order, within 30 days after the date of the order

·9· · complained of.

10· · · · · · · ·The hearing will proceed as follows:

11· · INR will present its witnesses and exhibits and

12· · will answer questions posed by the Division staff.

13· · Then any unleased mineral owners, working interest

14· · owners, and those persons with property included

15· · in the proposed Rubel SE unit will have the

16· · opportunity to present questions and concerns to

17· · the Division staff, and then the Division staff

18· · may take a break to determine if there's any

19· · additional questions for the Applicant.

20· · · · · · · ·To proceed in an orderly fashion, we

21· · ask that any interested party who speaks here

22· · today pose any questions to the Division, and we

23· · will then ask any questions to INR.

24· · · · · · · ·Additionally, anyone speaking today
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·1· · will be asked to provide their information to the

·2· · court reporter.· If you are uncomfortable speaking

·3· · during the hearing, we will also accept written

·4· · comments.· George Kasimos has indicated that he

·5· · wants to make comments, and those comments can be

·6· · made at the end of the hearing.

·7· · · · · · · ·We will now ask the Applicant to make

·8· · its introductions and begin its presentation.

·9· · · · · · · ·MS. BARRETT:· Thank you, Ms. Barrett.

10· · · · · · · ·Good morning.· My name is Paul

11· · Westbrook, and I represent the Applicant in this

12· · matter.· For the clarity of the record, I'll refer

13· · to the Rubel SE unit as the "Rubel Southeast" unit

14· · throughout the hearing today.

15· · · · · · · ·Our first witness is Joe Cunningham.

16· · · · · · · ·MS. MARSHALL:· Please swear in the

17· · witness.

18· · · · · · · · · · · · ·- - - - -

19· · · · · · · · · · · JOE CUNNINGHAM

20· · being first duly sworn, testifies and says as

21· · follows:

22· · · · · · · · · · DIRECT EXAMINATION

23· · BY MR. WESTBROOK:

24· · Q.· · · · ·Good morning, Mr. Cunningham.· Would
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·1· · you please introduce yourself to the Division?

·2· · A.· · · · ·Good morning.· My name is Joe

·3· · Cunningham.· I am Land Acquisitions Coordinator

·4· · III for Infinity Natural Resources, the parent

·5· · company of INR Ohio.

·6· · Q.· · · · ·And can you please describe your

·7· · educational background?

·8· · A.· · · · ·Yes.· I graduated from West Virginia

·9· · University with a Bachelor of Science in Business

10· · Administration and Accounting.

11· · Q.· · · · ·Thank you.· Would you also please

12· · describe your professional experience?

13· · A.· · · · ·I have worked in the oil and gas

14· · industry, primarily in land, for more than ten

15· · years.· I've been with Infinity since February of

16· · last year, and prior to Infinity, I worked

17· · in-house for the last seven years, and I had

18· · another operator based in West Virginia.

19· · Q.· · · · ·Thank you.· And as a land coordinator

20· · for INR or Infinity, can you tell us your primary

21· · job responsibilities?

22· · A.· · · · ·Negotiating lease acquisitions,

23· · managing field brokers, project managers, and

24· · overall horizontal well and unit development.
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·1· · Q.· · · · ·Thank you.· I'm going to turn now

·2· · specifically to the application and share Exhibit

·3· · D on the screen.· Do you see that on your screen?

·4· · · · · · · ·(No audio during answer.)

·5· · · · · · · ·I'm not hearing the beginning of your

·6· · answers.· I'm not sure -- can you see that on your

·7· · screen?

·8· · A.· · · · ·Can you hear me?

·9· · Q.· · · · ·Yeah, that's probably better.· Is

10· · that--

11· · · · · · · ·Ms. Barrett and Ms. Marshall, is that

12· · the same for you, or is it my technology?

13· · · · · · · ·MS. MARSHALL:· Same.· Correct.

14· · Q.· · · · ·Okay.· Same issue.· All right.· Thank

15· · you.

16· · · · · · · ·So, Mr. Cunningham, I might interrupt

17· · you if we don't hear the beginning of an answer or

18· · ask you to repeat it.· Just might be a microphone

19· · issue or something.· All right.· So, with

20· · reference to Exhibit D that's on the screen, would

21· · you please give a general description of the Rubel

22· · Southeast unit?

23· · A.· · · · ·The Rubel Southeast unit is a

24· · rectangular area of land located in Richland
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·1· · Township in Guernsey County, Ohio, and in Wayne

·2· · and Seneca Townships in Noble County, Ohio.· This

·3· · unit is made up of 679 separate tracts, and is

·4· · comprised of 858.6867 acres in total.

·5· · Q.· · · · ·Thank you.· And can you also describe

·6· · INR's plan for development of the Rubel Southeast

·7· · unit?

·8· · A.· · · · ·Two wells are planned in the Rubel

·9· · Southeast unit:· The Rubel S 12HU, which is

10· · approximately 18,892 feet in lateral length; and

11· · the Rubel S 14HU, which is approximately 18,978

12· · feet in lateral length.· And the pad site is

13· · located outside the northwest corner of the unit,

14· · and the laterals will be drilled to the southeast.

15· · The colors of the tracts on Exhibit D are

16· · explained in the legend in the bottom left corner.

17· · Q.· · · · ·Thank you.· And can you tell us the

18· · current status of the well pad for this unit,

19· · please?

20· · A.· · · · ·This is an existing well pad location.

21· · Q.· · · · ·Thank you.· And how has INR acquired

22· · the right to build the pad where it has chosen for

23· · this unit?

24· · · · · · · ·(No audio during answer.)
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·1· · · · · · · ·I think we're missing all of that right

·2· · now.· I'm sorry to interrupt.

·3· · A.· · · · ·Can you hear me?

·4· · Q.· · · · ·Yes, I can now.

·5· · A.· · · · ·Okay.· INR has a surface use agreement

·6· · with the surface owner of the pad location, as

·7· · well as all the necessary subsurface easements.

·8· · Q.· · · · ·Thank you.· And has INR applied for a

·9· · permit to drill these two wells in the Rubel

10· · Southeast unit yet?

11· · A.· · · · ·No, we have not.

12· · Q.· · · · ·And assuming the Division grants the

13· · application, approximately when does INR intend to

14· · drill the two wells on the Rubel Southeast unit?

15· · A.· · · · ·INR intends to begin drilling these

16· · wells as soon as reasonably possible after an

17· · order is granted, which we hope to be the near-end

18· · of the first quarter.

19· · Q.· · · · ·Thank you.· And I want to turn now and

20· · talk about the ownership interests in the Rubel

21· · Southeast unit.· What percentage of the working

22· · interest in the unit is committed at this time?

23· · A.· · · · ·INR is committing all of its

24· · 75.761023481 percent interest, and is currently
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·1· · the only consenting working interest owner.

·2· · Q.· · · · ·Thank you.· And are there any

·3· · uncommitted working interest owners at this time?

·4· · A.· · · · ·Yes.· EAP Ohio, LLC and Expand

·5· · Resources, LLC own uncommitted working interests

·6· · that total 23.17309636 percent of the unit.

·7· · Q.· · · · ·Thank you.· And then wrapping up

·8· · ownership in the unit, what percentage of the unit

·9· · is unleased, currently?

10· · A.· · · · ·Currently, 1.065669 percent of the unit

11· · is unleased.

12· · Q.· · · · ·Thank you.· And does INR's application

13· · seek to unitize all interest in this unit?

14· · A.· · · · ·No.· We are only seeking to unitize the

15· · unitized formation, which in our application we

16· · have defined as the subsurface portion of the unit

17· · from the top of the Utica formation to the top of

18· · the Trenton formation, which includes the Point

19· · Pleasant Interval.

20· · Q.· · · · ·Thank you.· And under the application,

21· · how will production, revenue, and expenses be

22· · allocated in this unit?

23· · A.· · · · ·On a surface acreage basis.

24· · Q.· · · · ·Thank you.· And which owners will bear
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·1· · the expenses of this unit?

·2· · · · · · · ·The working interest owners.

·3· · Q.· · · · ·Thank you.· And just one last question

·4· · for me, for now: How many wells in total will be

·5· · drilled from the pad associated with this unit?

·6· · A.· · · · ·There will be three wells drilled from

·7· · the pad associated with this unit.

·8· · Q.· · · · ·All right.· Thank you, Mr. Cunningham.

·9· · · · · · · ·MR. WESTBROOK:· I have no further

10· · questions at this time.

11· · · · · · · ·MS. MARSHALL:· Mr. Cunningham, what is

12· · the current average outstanding offer to the

13· · unleased mineral owners in the proposed unit?

14· · Average bonus and average royalty?

15· · · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· The average current

16· · outstanding offer is $4,625 an acre, and our

17· · average royalty offer is 18 percent.

18· · · · · · · ·MS. MARSHALL:· Is the average royalty

19· · based on a net or gross amount?

20· · · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· These are mixed, but we

21· · are willing to negotiate that.

22· · · · · · · ·MS. MARSHALL:· Do those offers include

23· · surface use?

24· · · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· Some do, some do not.
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·1· · Our standard form does have surface use, but we

·2· · would be willing to negotiate that as well.

·3· · · · · · · ·MS. MARSHALL:· When will those offers

·4· · expire?

·5· · · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· They will expire after a

·6· · reasonable amount of time.· If we cannot come to a

·7· · mutual agreeable term, however, we will continue

·8· · to negotiate those.

·9· · · · · · · ·MS. MARSHALL:· What is the average

10· · offer that was accepted by the leased mineral

11· · owners in the proposed unit?· Average bonus and

12· · average royalty?

13· · · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· The average accepted

14· · bonus offer in this unit was $4,365 an acre, and

15· · royalty was 18 percent.· That was mixed between

16· · gross and net as well.

17· · · · · · · ·MS. MARSHALL:· Can you please explain

18· · the difference between the current offer and

19· · average offers accepted?

20· · · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· Yes.· So, there's a lot

21· · of smaller subdivision lots in the Buffalo Hills

22· · area.· That has kind of increased our offer just

23· · to give the landowners a kind of incentive to

24· · sign.· So that's kind of the difference there.
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·1· · · · · · · ·MS. MARSHALL:· Do you believe your

·2· · lease attempts have been reasonable, and why?

·3· · · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· Yes, I do.· I believe our

·4· · contact logs will reflect that.· We've, you know,

·5· · signed numerous owners and are continuing to sign

·6· · leases even up until our supplemental period.

·7· · · · · · · ·MS. MARSHALL:· Will you continue

·8· · attempts to lease the unleased mineral owners

·9· · after the hearing and after a unitization order is

10· · issued, if one is issued?

11· · · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· Yes, we will.

12· · · · · · · ·MS. MARSHALL:· Do you believe your

13· · attempts to commit non-consenting working interest

14· · owners have been reasonable?· If so, why?

15· · · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· We've been actively

16· · communicating with all of the working interest

17· · owners within this unit and we are hoping to reach

18· · an agreement with all the non-consenting working

19· · interest owners.

20· · · · · · · ·MS. MARSHALL:· Will you continue your

21· · attempts to commit non-consenting working interest

22· · owners after today's hearing?

23· · · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· Yes, we will as long as

24· · they're willing to work with us on a mutually
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·1· · agreeable form.

·2· · · · · · · ·MS. MARSHALL:· Do the leases in the

·3· · unit authorize drilling into and producing from

·4· · the proposed unitized formations?

·5· · · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· All the leases cover the

·6· · unitized formation.

·7· · · · · · · ·MS. MARSHALL:· To establish bonus and

·8· · royalty amounts and leases, how are those

·9· · generally determined?

10· · · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· What was that?· I'm

11· · sorry.

12· · · · · · · ·MS. MARSHALL:· To establish bonus and

13· · royalty amounts and leases, how are those

14· · generally determined?

15· · · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· Those are a mixture of

16· · things.· Typically, it's the commodity prices, our

17· · development timelines, and when the lease was

18· · acquired, as well as the estimation of well

19· · economics and the amount of competitor activity in

20· · the area.

21· · · · · · · ·MS. MARSHALL:· That is all the

22· · questions that I have.· Thank you.

23· · · · · · · ·Ms. Barrett, do you have any questions?

24· · · · · · · ·MS. BARRETT:· Yes, I do.
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·1· · · · · · · · · · · · ·- - - - -

·2· · · · · · · · · · CROSS-EXAMINATION

·3· · BY MS. BARRETT:

·4· · Q.· · · · ·Can you explain the reasoning behind

·5· · the shape of the unit?

·6· · A.· · · · ·Yes.· So we made a rectangular unit,

·7· · and did abut to the existing well in our planned

·8· · Rubel Southwest unit as well.· There's an Antero

·9· · unit to the west of that as well.· So we created

10· · that bump-out to not strand any acreage.

11· · Q.· · · · ·Okay.

12· · · · · · · ·MS. BARRETT:· No more questions from

13· · me.· Thank you.

14· · · · · · · ·MR. WESTBROOK:· I did have -- I'm

15· · sorry.· I'm sorry to interrupt.· I wanted to

16· · clarify one answer at the end.

17· · · · · · · ·Sorry, Mr. Cunningham.

18· · · · · · · ·And sorry, Ms. Marshall.

19· · · · · · · · · · · · ·- - - - -

20· · · · · · · · · ·REDIRECT-EXAMINATION

21· · BY MR. WESTBROOK:

22· · Q.· · · · ·For the number of wells that will be

23· · drilled from the pad for this unit, there are two

24· · into this unit; is that correct?· Two proposed
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·1· · wells into this unit?

·2· · · · · · · ·(No audio during answer.)

·3· · · · · · · ·Sorry.· I'm not -- I'm not hearing you

·4· · again.· I think I'm cut off on my number of

·5· · questions for the day, maybe.

·6· · A.· · · · ·Sorry.

·7· · Q.· · · · ·Go ahead, Mr. Cunningham.

·8· · A.· · · · ·There is two.· I think I inadvertently

·9· · said three, if that's correct.· But there will be

10· · two:· the 12HU and the 14HU.

11· · · · · · · ·MR. WESTBROOK:· Okay, great.· And then

12· · there will be a -- there are additional wells

13· · drilled from this pad off to the north, and then

14· · some additional proposed into the adjacent unit is

15· · that correct?

16· · · · · · · ·(No audio during answer.)

17· · · · · · · ·I'm sorry.· Did you say "Yes, that is

18· · correct"?

19· · A.· · · · ·Yes, that is correct.· Sorry about

20· · this.

21· · Q.· · · · ·I don't -- I think our technology is

22· · already on Christmas break.· Maybe.· But thank you

23· · for plowing through.

24· · · · · · · ·MR. WESTBROOK:· That's all the
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·1· · questions I have for now.

·2· · · · · · · ·MS. MARSHALL:· Thank you.

·3· · Mr. Westbrook, please call your next witness.

·4· · · · · · · ·MR. WESTBROOK:· Our next witness is

·5· · Bill Carpenter.

·6· · · · · · · ·MS. MARSHALL:· Please swear in the

·7· · witness.

·8· · · · · · · · · · · · ·- - - - -

·9· · · · · · · · · · · BILL CARPENTER

10· · being first duly sworn, testifies and says as

11· · follows:

12· · · · · · · · · · DIRECT EXAMINATION

13· · BY: MR. WESTBROOK:

14· · Q.· · · · ·Good morning, Mr. Carpenter.· Would you

15· · please introduce yourself to the Division?

16· · A.· · · · ·Sure.

17· · · · · · · ·Good morning, everyone.· My name is

18· · Bill Carpenter, and I'm a petroleum geologist and

19· · operate Carpenter Energy, LLC.· I've been

20· · retained by Infinity Natural Resources to provide

21· · petroleum geology consulting services in

22· · connection with the proposed Rubel Southeast

23· · unit.

24· · Q.· · · · ·And what are your primary
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·1· · responsibilities with Carpenter Energy, LLC?

·2· · A.· · · · ·My general responsibilities include

·3· · analyzing geologic data to optimize well

·4· · performance, evaluating prospects, asset

·5· · development, well planning, and operational

·6· · oversight of reservoir navigation.

·7· · Q.· · · · ·Thank you.· And can you please describe

·8· · your educational background?

·9· · A.· · · · ·Yes.· I hold Bachelor and Master

10· · degrees in Geology from West Virginia University,

11· · and I earned those degrees in 2002 and 2005.

12· · Q.· · · · ·And can you also describe your

13· · professional experience, please?

14· · A.· · · · ·I've worked as a petroleum geologist

15· · for more than 20 years in the Appalachian Basin,

16· · including a variety of development and exploration

17· · roles as both an employee and as an independent

18· · consultant for a variety of oil and gas companies.

19· · My unconventional experience is focused primarily

20· · on the Marcellus and Utica Shales in the past 15

21· · years, but my various roles have included

22· · exploration, field development, well planning,

23· · geosteering, well site operations, asset approval,

24· · as well as shallow conventional plays and
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·1· · saltwater disposal projects.

·2· · Q.· · · · ·And are you a member of any

·3· · professional associations?

·4· · A.· · · · ·Yes, I'm an accredited certified

·5· · petroleum geologist, member of the American

·6· · Association of Petroleum Geologists.· I'm also a

·7· · member of the Pittsburgh Association of Petroleum

·8· · Geologists and the Appalachian Geological Society,

·9· · where I've held numerous officer positions.

10· · Q.· · · · ·Thank you.· And I want to turn now a

11· · little more specifically to the application.· And

12· · would you begin by defining a "pool" for the

13· · Division, please?

14· · A.· · · · ·A "pool" is generally understood to be

15· · an area of geologically consistent reservoir

16· · properties such as lithology, thickness, porosity,

17· · and permeability that share an accumulation of

18· · hydrocarbons, and this is consistent with the Ohio

19· · statutory definition of a pool, which is an

20· · underground reservoir containing a common

21· · accumulation of oil and gas, or both, but does not

22· · include gas storage.

23· · Q.· · · · ·Thank you.· And, as Mr. Cunningham

24· · testified, is it your understanding that the
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·1· · proposed unitized formation for the Rubel

·2· · Southeast unit is the Utica Shale formation,

·3· · including the Point Pleasant Interval?

·4· · A.· · · · ·Yes.

·5· · Q.· · · · ·And in your opinion, is that unitized

·6· · formation for the Rubel Southeast unit a pool or a

·7· · part of a pool?

·8· · A.· · · · ·Yes, I believe the unitized formation

·9· · is part of a pool.

10· · Q.· · · · ·All right.· Now, turning very

11· · specifically to the application, I'm going to

12· · share an exhibit on the screen, hopefully Exhibit

13· · F.· Do you see that on your screen?

14· · A.· · · · ·Yes, I do.

15· · Q.· · · · ·Right.· If you would, just walk us

16· · through Exhibit F and the data that are shown here

17· · and how they relate to and support your opinion

18· · that the proposed unitized formation is a part of

19· · a pool.· And I will also flip to Exhibit E, when

20· · you're ready, that shows a different aspect of

21· · this data.

22· · A.· · · · ·Yes.· Thank you.· You're looking at

23· · Exhibit F, and it's a map that was prepared for

24· · the Rubel Southeast unit, showing the two
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·1· · comparison wells that are used for the

·2· · cross-section analysis that I'll later show in

·3· · Exhibit E.· The two comparison wells are the Utica

·4· · Resources Rubel West 1V and the American Energy,

·5· · LLC Shugert Daddy 1 well, and they're located

·6· · about six miles apart.· And the Rubel West 1V

·7· · actually shares the same general location as the

·8· · Rubel Southeast unit.· I selected these wells

·9· · primarily because they're the most proximal wells

10· · that are updip and downdip of the Rubel Southeast

11· · unit where I have access to a complete set of well

12· · logs for the zone of interest.· If you can, we can

13· · go ahead and go to Exhibit E.

14· · Q.· · · · ·There you go.

15· · A.· · · · ·There you are.· Exhibit E is a

16· · stratigraphic cross-section, which means it's

17· · normalized, or horizontally tied, on the Trenton

18· · Limestone datum.· For the two wells that I

19· · mentioned that were prepared for the Rubel

20· · Southeast unit, the log data curves displayed on

21· · both of these wells show the gamma ray in the

22· · left-hand track, the resistivity in the middle

23· · track, and the density in the right-hand track.

24· · And as seen on this exhibit, the log data really
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·1· · demonstrates that the stratigraphic

·2· · characteristics of the Utica-Point Pleasant

·3· · formation is very consistent and does not

·4· · significantly change near the proposed Rubel

·5· · Southeast unit, so the geologic properties across

·6· · these wells, including the thickness, the

·7· · resistivity, and porosity, are laterally

·8· · consistent throughout the proposed Rubel Southeast

·9· · unit.

10· · · · · · · ·So, based on this data, we would

11· · expect the geological properties of this unit to

12· · be consistent with the surrounding areas, and

13· · that it's part of a larger pool of common

14· · hydrocarbons.

15· · Q.· · · · ·All right.· Thank you very much for

16· · walking us through that analysis.· Is this method

17· · of analysis you've described a commonly accepted

18· · method in your industry?

19· · A.· · · · ·Yes.

20· · Q.· · · · ·Thank you.· And then just one last

21· · question for me, for now:· As Mr. Cunningham

22· · testified, production, revenue and expenses in the

23· · Rubel Southeast unit will be allocated on a

24· · surface acreage basis.· In your opinion, is that
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·1· · appropriate here?

·2· · A.· · · · ·Yes, it is, because the relative

·3· · thickness and reservoir qualities of the Utica and

·4· · Point Pleasant is expected to be consistent across

·5· · the entire unit.

·6· · Q.· · · · ·All right.· Thank you, Mr. Carpenter.

·7· · · · · · · ·MR. WESTBROOK:· I have no further

·8· · questions at this time.

·9· · · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· Thank you.

10· · · · · · · ·MS. MARSHALL:· Mr. Carpenter.

11· · · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· Yes.· Good morning.

12· · · · · · · ·MS. MARSHALL:· Good morning.· What is

13· · the anticipated true vertical depth of the

14· · horizontal portion of the well bores?

15· · · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· Are you referring to the

16· · formation tops or the landing point?· I just want

17· · to make sure I'm answering you properly.

18· · · · · · · ·MS. MARSHALL:· Okay.

19· · · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· I can provide both.

20· · · · · · · ·MS. MARSHALL:· Okay.· Yes.

21· · · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· Yeah.· So, the Utica

22· · Shale -- and this is based on the Rubel Southeast

23· · 12H.· Of course, these wells are right beside of

24· · each other, but we anticipate the top of the Utica
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·1· · Shale to be at 6,930 feet TVD, the top of the

·2· · Point Pleasant to be at 7,065 feet TVD, and the

·3· · top of the Trenton at 7,175 feet TVD.· And we

·4· · anticipate to land the well at approximately 7,140

·5· · feet, TVD.

·6· · · · · · · ·MS. MARSHALL:· Okay, so you answered

·7· · the next question.· Thank you.

·8· · · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· Oh, absolutely.

·9· · · · · · · ·MS. MARSHALL:· Okay.· Do you expect

10· · production from outside the Point Pleasant?

11· · · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· Yeah.· Over the life of

12· · the wells, we expect a small contribution from the

13· · upper Utica formation.

14· · · · · · · ·MS. MARSHALL:· That is all the

15· · questions that I have.

16· · · · · · · ·Ms. Barrett, do you have any questions?

17· · · · · · · ·MS. BARRETT:· No, I do not.· Thank you.

18· · · · · · · ·MS. MARSHALL:· Thank you.

19· · · · · · · ·Mr. Westbrook, please call your next

20· · witness.

21· · · · · · · ·MR. WESTBROOK:· Thank you all.

22· · · · · · · ·Thank you, Bill.

23· · · · · · · ·And thank you, Ms. Marshall.· Our final

24· · witness today is Danny Watson.
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·1· · · · · · · ·MS. MARSHALL:· Please swear in the

·2· · witness.

·3· · · · · · · · · · · · ·- - - - -

·4· · · · · · · · · · · ·DANNY WATSON

·5· · being first duly sworn, testifies and says as

·6· · follows:

·7· · · · · · · · · · DIRECT EXAMINATION

·8· · BY MR. WESTBROOK:

·9· · Q.· · · · ·Good morning, Mr. Watson.· Would you

10· · introduce yourself to the Division and tell us a

11· · little bit about your educational and professional

12· · backgrounds and what you do professionally these

13· · days?

14· · A.· · · · ·Yes.· Good morning.· My name is Danny

15· · Watson.· I am the owner and principal engineer of

16· · DAW Consulting, LLC, based in Elm Springs,

17· · Arkansas.· My primary responsibilities are I'm a

18· · reservoir engineer, so at the highest level I

19· · estimate the amount of hydrocarbons that underlie

20· · a given area and then subsequently place a value

21· · on those hydrocarbons.· I graduated from West

22· · Virginia University in December 2008 with a degree

23· · in Petroleum and Natural Gas Engineering.· I am a

24· · registered professional engineer in the State of
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·1· · Oklahoma.· And, yes, in terms of the relationship

·2· · with Infinity, it is --· I provide contract

·3· · reservoir engineering services to help them with

·4· · valuation efforts in terms of anything from

·5· · mergers and acquisitions to optimal developments,

·6· · planning, as well as regulatory hearings such as

·7· · this.

·8· · Q.· · · · ·All right.· Thank you.· And turning a

·9· · little bit more specifically to the Rubel

10· · Southeast unit application, can you please

11· · describe your general methodology in connection

12· · with your work regarding this unit?

13· · A.· · · · ·Yes.· So, it's really a two-pronged

14· · effort, if you will.· And the first piece of that

15· · is to perform a technical analysis to, again,

16· · estimate the amount of production that would be

17· · estimated from the unit.· So in order to do that,

18· · we actually first have to step outside of the

19· · unit.· And we use what's called "analogous well

20· · theory" to look at offset wells that are producing

21· · and analyze what we expect the production from

22· · those wells would be, because analogous well

23· · theory states that wells within a given area that

24· · are drilled, completed, and produced in a similar
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·1· · manner from a similar formation should yield

·2· · similar production results.· So we look at those

·3· · analogue wells, if you will, and we see what they

·4· · are doing, and then we make a reasonable

·5· · assumption that the subject wells should produce

·6· · around the same.

·7· · · · · · · ·So in order to do that, we use what's

·8· · called "decline curve analysis," which is an

·9· · industry standard methodology to analyze those

10· · analogue wells.· And what we specifically do is

11· · we use empirically derived formulas to fit a

12· · best-fit trend line through the historical data,

13· · and then extrapolate that into the future to

14· · estimate what the wells will produce again in the

15· · future, based upon their historical production.

16· · · · · · · ·Whenever you combine the actual

17· · historical production with the estimated future

18· · production, then you generate what's called the

19· · estimated "ultimate recovery" or "EUR" for each

20· · well.· So once we do that for all of those wells,

21· · we essentially combine them together to create an

22· · average EUR and an associated average production

23· · profile for each well within this area.· And then

24· · we apply that average production profile to each
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·1· · of the subject wells within the proposed unit,

·2· · based upon their lateral length.

·3· · · · · · · ·From that point, the technical

·4· · analysis turns into a financial analysis.· And

·5· · so, again, we don't simply just have the amount

·6· · of volumes that we expect from the well, we have

·7· · them, and we don't -- sorry.· We don't just have

·8· · the sum of those values; we actually have them

·9· · throughout time.· And so, we can take those

10· · monthly values of production and set those

11· · against certain hydrocarbon pricing assumptions.

12· · And whenever we multiply those together, we then

13· · generate the revenue portion of the cash-flow

14· · stream that we would expect from each well.

15· · · · · · · ·In order to realize those revenues,

16· · there are significant costs that are associated

17· · with obtaining them.· And so, there's two main

18· · buckets.· The first would be CapEx or "capital

19· · expenditures."· Those are the major upfront costs

20· · that are associated with drilling and completing

21· · the wells.· Essentially, anything from the time

22· · that you break ground on the pad until the time

23· · that you turn the well in-line.

24· · · · · · · ·After the well is turned in-line,
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·1· · there are still costs associated with keeping

·2· · that well flowing throughout its productive life.

·3· · Those are known as "operating expenses."· They

·4· · can be anything from paying the pumpers to go out

·5· · and routinely keep the well flowing.· It could be

·6· · for their vehicles or the fuel to power the

·7· · vehicles for handling salt water.· Just, again,

·8· · all of the costs associated with keeping the well

·9· · flowing.· And whenever you offset the revenues

10· · with those costs, again, you generate what would

11· · be the cash-flow statement for the well.· And

12· · whenever you sum up all of those cash flows, then

13· · you would have the total net cash flow for the

14· · well.

15· · · · · · · ·The last piece of the analysis would

16· · be that we need to consider what the value of

17· · those cash flows would be in today's dollars.

18· · These wells, there are wells within the

19· · Appalachian Basin that are produced for over 100

20· · years.· And so, we have to account for the time

21· · value of money.· We all know that the value of a

22· · dollar today is certainly not worth what it was

23· · 20 years ago, and it won't be worth what it is

24· · now 20 years from now.· And so, in order to
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·1· · account for that, we use basic financial

·2· · calculations that discount the cash flows back to

·3· · today's dollars.· We use an industry standard of

·4· · 10 percent.· And whenever we apply that discount

·5· · factor, the last or the resultant calculation

·6· · would be we arrive at the "PV10," or the net

·7· · present value discounted at 10 percent per year

·8· · for each of the wells.

·9· · · · · · · ·And so, that's our primary financial

10· · metric that we use to evaluate whether or not a

11· · project is something worth pursuing within the

12· · oil-and-gas engineering part of the evaluation.

13· · Q.· · · · ·All right.· Thank you very much for

14· · walking through that.· I want to pull up Section 5

15· · to the application on the screen.· Do you see

16· · that?

17· · A.· · · · ·Yes, I do.

18· · Q.· · · · ·And then this section, this exhibit, is

19· · where that methodology that you described really

20· · gets put on paper for the particular Rubel

21· · Southeast unit and the two wells that are proposed

22· · in it.

23· · · · · · · ·If you would, would you just walk us

24· · through some of the highlights?· The top table
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·1· · being the unitized scenario where we get an order.

·2· · The middle table being the non-unitized, where we

·3· · don't get an order.· And then the bottom table

·4· · just being the mathematical difference between the

·5· · top and the bottom.· And then the points of data

·6· · that you think are important on this exhibit,

·7· · please.

·8· · A.· · · · ·Sure.· So, in the top table, again,

·9· · this is assuming that unit operations are granted,

10· · the unit would be able to be fully developed with

11· · two laterals.· And the total lateral length would

12· · be almost 38,000 feet worth of lateral.· The

13· · significance being that the more reservoir that

14· · you contact, the more recovery that will be

15· · realized from a unit.· So, longer laterals are a

16· · better thing here.· In the non-unitized scenario,

17· · you can see that there's substantially less.

18· · There's only a little less than 15,000 feet of

19· · lateral.· And so, again, unit operations, if they

20· · are granted, would allow for an additional almost

21· · 23,000 feet of lateral to be drilled within the

22· · unit.· What ends up as a result of that is that

23· · the ultimate recovery, which would be in the last

24· · column there, is -- and if unit operations are
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·1· · granted, there's an estimated 23 BCFe of gas that

·2· · would be produced from the unit.· In the

·3· · non-unitized scenario, there would be less than

·4· · ten BCFe.· So significant difference there.· The

·5· · value of that recovery in the unitized scenario in

·6· · the area would be over $105 million.· And then

·7· · within the non-unitized scenario, again,

·8· · substantially less.· It reduces to around $40

·9· · million.· And then again, whenever you consider

10· · those capital costs and operating costs, which I

11· · won't run through all of those, and you get to the

12· · resultant cash flow, you can see there's a

13· · discounted and an undiscounted.· Since we really

14· · want to focus on today's dollars, you can see that

15· · the PV10 and the unitized scenario is a little

16· · over $14 million.· And then in a non-unitized

17· · scenario, it was just under $3 million.· And so

18· · the difference between unit operations and a

19· · non-unitized scenario is approximately almost

20· · $11.5 million of PV10.· So, again, that value

21· · being what we would consider in today's dollars.

22· · Q.· · · · ·All right.· Thank you.· And I just want

23· · to ask a couple of specific statutory questions to

24· · wrap up my questions.· Your analysis shows that
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·1· · the value of the estimated additional recovery of

·2· · oil or gas in the unitized scenario for the Rubel

·3· · Southeast unit exceeds the estimated additional

·4· · cost; is that correct?

·5· · A.· · · · ·Yes.

·6· · Q.· · · · ·Thank you.· And then finally, based on

·7· · your analysis and your professional opinion, unit

·8· · operation of the Rubel Southeast unit is

·9· · reasonably necessary to increase substantially

10· · the recovery of oil and gas from this unit; is

11· · that also correct?

12· · A.· · · · ·Yes.

13· · Q.· · · · ·All right.· Thank you, Mr. Watson.

14· · · · · · · ·MR. WESTBROOK:· I have no further

15· · questions at this time.

16· · · · · · · ·MS. MARSHALL:· Thank you.

17· · · · · · · ·Mr. Watson, what is the estimated

18· · economic life of the wells in years?

19· · · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· Yeah.· So in this case,

20· · with all of the assumptions that were used, the

21· · economic life is approximately 48 years, with the

22· · caveat being that that's highly predicated upon

23· · what the actual production would be and what

24· · actual realized hydrocarbon pricing will be
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·1· · sometime way off in the distant future.

·2· · · · · · · ·MS. MARSHALL:· What price was used in

·3· · your economic calculations?

·4· · · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· They are NYMEX prices,

·5· · future values that were traded on October 9th of

·6· · 2025.

·7· · · · · · · ·MS. MARSHALL:· When do you estimate you

·8· · will recover the cost of drilling, testing, and

·9· · completing the wells at one times, one-and-a-half

10· · times, two times, and three times?

11· · · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· At the one-times payout,

12· · it would be somewhere between one to two years.

13· · At 1.5 times, it would be between four and five

14· · years.· At two times, it would be between 11 and

15· · 12 years.· And at three times, it would be

16· · somewhere beyond what would be the economic life

17· · of this well.

18· · · · · · · ·So again, similar to the economic life,

19· · those are all highly sensitive to what actual

20· · realized pricing would be and actual production

21· · would be.· So they would be subject to change.

22· · · · · · · ·MS. MARSHALL:· And the total wells

23· · being drilled from this pad is two; is that

24· · correct?
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·1· · · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· There are currently six

·2· · producing wells on the pad, and there will be two

·3· · additional wells in this unit and three additional

·4· · wells within an adjacent unit.· So there would

·5· · ultimately be 11 with the current plans from INR

·6· · as they were described to me.

·7· · · · · · · ·MS. MARSHALL:· Okay.· And there are

·8· · existing wells on this pad?

·9· · · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· Yes.

10· · · · · · · ·MS. MARSHALL:· Have you factored in

11· · cost for shutdowns of the existing wells due to

12· · simultaneous operations?· If no, why not?

13· · · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· They have been factored

14· · in.

15· · · · · · · ·MS. MARSHALL:· How are pad costs

16· · accounted for in your calculations?

17· · · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· In my calculations, it's

18· · based upon, again, the standard with how you would

19· · treat things from a reserves perspective or

20· · reserves engineering perspective.· And so those

21· · pad costs are actually sunk.· And so, they are not

22· · applied or allocated to any of the future wells.

23· · The cost that would be associated with any future

24· · wells would be all of those costs that would be
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·1· · associated with returning to the pad for things

·2· · like simultaneous operations.· And those would be

·3· · equally allocated to the additional five wells

·4· · that would be expected to be developed from the

·5· · pad.

·6· · · · · · · ·MS. MARSHALL:· Okay.· Are the pad costs

·7· · shared equally between the wells?

·8· · · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· The pad costs were shared

·9· · equally amongst the original wells.· The

10· · simultaneous -- the future costs, since there

11· · would be no more pad costs unless there would be

12· · upgrades or things of that nature, those future

13· · costs would be allocated equally amongst the

14· · additional wells to be drilled.· But any costs

15· · that have already been incurred with the original

16· · producing wells, those are sunk, and they are not

17· · applied to the reserves calculations that are

18· · here.

19· · · · · · · ·MS. MARSHALL:· Did you use actual pad

20· · costs or estimated costs in your economics?

21· · · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· So there would be

22· · estimated costs for, again, any sort of

23· · improvements or returning to the pad and estimated

24· · costs for simultaneous operations.
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·1· · · · · · · ·MS. MARSHALL:· What amount was included

·2· · for plugging and restoration costs in your

·3· · economic calculations per well?· Plugging and

·4· · restoration?

·5· · · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· Yes.· So it would be

·6· · $200,000 per well.

·7· · · · · · · ·MS. MARSHALL:· What is the estimated

·8· · BCFe fee per 1000 feet?

·9· · · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· It's approximately 0.61

10· · BCFe per 1000 feet.

11· · · · · · · ·MS. MARSHALL:· What is the estimated

12· · recovery factor in the area?

13· · · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· So, that's highly

14· · dependent upon the calculation for original

15· · hydrocarbons in place, which, depending on your

16· · methodology, can vary pretty significantly.· But I

17· · would say that a reasonable recovery factor would

18· · be somewhere between 18 and 35 percent.

19· · · · · · · ·MS. MARSHALL:· That is all the

20· · questions that I have.

21· · · · · · · ·Ms. Barrett, do you have any questions?

22· · · · · · · ·MS. BARRETT:· Yes.· Just one for

23· · clarification.

24
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·1· · · · · · · · · · · · ·- - - - -

·2· · · · · · · · · · ·CROSS-EXAMINATION

·3· · BY MS. BARRETT:

·4· · Q.· · · · ·So were there improvements or expansion

·5· · costs that were included?

·6· · A.· · · · ·So any of the expansion --· I don't

·7· · think there's any expansion.· But again, if

·8· · there's anything to return in terms of -- if

·9· · there's additional gravel or liner or anything

10· · that needs to be set.· And then, again, the

11· · biggest pieces, normally that's those that are

12· · associated with simultaneous operations.

13· · · · · · · ·MS. BARRETT:· Okay.· And those are

14· · split equally amongst the five new wells, then;

15· · right?

16· · A.· · · · ·That's correct.

17· · Q.· · · · ·Okay.· Great.

18· · · · · · · ·MS. BARRETT:· That was all I had.

19· · Thank you.

20· · · · · · · ·MS. MARSHALL:· Thank you.

21· · · · · · · ·Once again, if you would like to make

22· · comments, I am first going to take all of your

23· · names and note whether you are an unleased mineral

24· · owner, working interest owner, or an owner with
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·1· · property in the unit.· Only one person may speak

·2· · at a time to properly record the hearing, and

·3· · please mute your microphone once you have

·4· · delivered your comments or questions to avoid any

·5· · feedback.

·6· · · · · · · ·Additionally, anyone speaking today

·7· · will be asked to provide their information to the

·8· · court reporter.· If you are uncomfortable speaking

·9· · during the hearing, we will also accept written

10· · comments.

11· · · · · · · ·I have George Kasimos and will now ask

12· · for anyone else that wishes to make comments.· If

13· · you have joined via WebEx and would like to make

14· · comments, please unmute yourself and state your

15· · name.

16· · · · · · · ·Hearing none.

17· · · · · · · ·If you have joined us via phone and

18· · would like to make comments, please unmute

19· · yourself by pressing "star 6" and state your name.

20· · · · · · · ·Hearing none.

21· · · · · · · ·As a reminder, we ask that any

22· · interested party who speaks here today pose any

23· · questions to the Division, and we will then ask

24· · any questions to the Applicant.· Mr. Kasimos,
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·1· · please let us know if you are here and ready to be

·2· · sworn in.

·3· · · · · · · ·MR. KASIMOS:· I'm here, and I'm ready

·4· · to be sworn in.

·5· · · · · · · ·MS. MARSHALL:· Please swear in

·6· · Mr. Kasimos.

·7· · · · · · · ·(Mr. Kasimos was sworn in.)

·8· · · · · · · ·MS. MARSHALL:· Mr. Kasimos, please

·9· · proceed with your questions or comments.

10· · · · · · · ·MR. KASIMOS:· I just have a one

11· · question:· How far away can they drill?· Like, if

12· · we don't sign a lease, how far away can they

13· · drill?· Do they have to be from the lot?· I mean,

14· · that's really it.

15· · · · · · · ·MS. BARRETT:· Yes.

16· · · · · · · ·Does Mr. Westbrook or somebody on your

17· · team want to answer that spacing question?

18· · · · · · · ·MR. WESTBROOK:· Yeah I'll tell you.

19· · And I'm probably mispronouncing your name,

20· · Mr. Kasimos?· Is that close?

21· · · · · · · ·MR. KASIMOS:· That's close enough.

22· · · · · · · ·MR. WESTBROOK:· Oh, Good.· Sorry about

23· · that.· Thank you.· There are spacing requirements.

24· · I don't want to say exactly -- or I don't want to
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·1· · rely only on my memory to know exactly where they

·2· · are, but you can see from the exhibits that we put

·3· · up on the screen -- I don't know -- are you able

·4· · to see the screen?

·5· · · · · · · ·MR. KASIMOS:· Yes, sir.

·6· · · · · · · ·MR. WESTBROOK:· Okay.· And so that is

·7· · Exhibit D that I'm going to get to now.· Let's see

·8· · here.· We have a pad for this unit that's

·9· · located -- I assume your tracts are in this

10· · subdivision area, right?

11· · · · · · · ·MR. KASIMOS:· Yes, sir.

12· · · · · · · ·MR. WESTBROOK:· I've got it on the

13· · screen now, which is down in the south end of the

14· · unit.· And then if you look at the whole unit

15· · together, the surface location is going to be up

16· · here where this blue dot is on the northwest end

17· · or outside the northwest end of the unit.· And

18· · then the laterals will be drilled thousands of

19· · feet deep along the lines approximately of where

20· · they're shown on this plot.· And so, depending on

21· · where your lots are specifically, they may go

22· · right through the lot, or they may be very close

23· · to it.· But they will be, again, thousands of feet

24· · deep.· And the surface location will be, you know,
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·1· · very far away to the north end.

·2· · · · · · · ·MR. KASIMOS:· Right.· But when you're

·3· · extracting oil, how does that work if -- you know,

·4· · with the lots and stuff?

·5· · · · · · · ·MR. WESTBROOK:· Yeah, I think, you

·6· · know, I'm not a scientist, but we're attempting to

·7· · fully develop the unit, which would include the

·8· · hydrocarbons that are under your lots.· Thousands

·9· · of feet under your lots.· And the idea of the

10· · unitization process is to fairly compensate

11· · everybody, whether they sign a lease or not.· And

12· · so, you would be compensated according to the

13· · terms of the unit order if you don't sign any

14· · leases.

15· · · · · · · ·MR. KASIMOS:· No worries.· Thank you

16· · very much.

17· · · · · · · ·MR. WESTBROOK:· Yes, sir.· Thank you.

18· · · · · · · ·MS. MARSHALL:· Thank you.

19· · · · · · · ·Ms. Barrett, do you have any additional

20· · questions for the Applicant?

21· · · · · · · ·MS. BARRETT:· No, I do not.· Thank you.

22· · · · · · · ·MS. MARSHALL:· Does the Applicant have

23· · any closing remarks?

24· · · · · · · ·MR. WESTBROOK:· We do not.· Thank you.
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·1· · And Happy Holidays, if we don't speak again before

·2· · next week.

·3· · · · · · · ·MS. MARSHALL:· Thank you very much.

·4· · · · · · · ·Thank you, everyone.· The hearing is

·5· · now concluded.

·6· · · · · · · · · · · · ·- - - - -

·7· · · · · · ·Thereupon, the foregoing proceedings

·8· · · · · · ·concluded at 9:44 a.m.

·9· · · · · · · · · · · · ·- - - - -
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·1· · State of Ohio· · ·:· · ·C E R T I F I C A T E
· · · County of Franklin: SS
·2
· · · · · ·I, Jack M. Casey, a Notary Public in and for
·3· · the State of Ohio, do hereby certify that I
· · · transcribed or supervised the transcription of the
·4· · audio recording of the aforementioned proceedings;
· · · that the foregoing is a true record of the
·5· · proceedings.

·6· · · · ·I do further certify I am not a relative,
· · · employee or attorney of any of the parties hereto,
·7· · and further I am not a relative or employee of any
· · · attorney or counsel employed by the parties
·8· · hereto, or financially interested in the action.

·9· · · · ·IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my
· · · hand and affixed my seal of office at Columbus,
10· · Ohio, on January 9, 2026.
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20· · _________________________________________________
· · · Jack M. Casey, Notary Public - State of Ohio
21· · My commission expires November 24, 2030.
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JOB: RUBEL SE UNIT

MUNICIPALITY: RICHLAND, WAYNE, & SENECA TWP.
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OPERATOR:    INR OHIO, LLC
ADDRESS:

SECTION : 22 TOWNSHIP: T1N RANGE: R2W

COUNTY: GUERNSEY & NOBLE

MUNICIPALITY: RICHLAND & WAYNE TWP.

2605 CRANBERRY SQUARE,
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EXHIBIT E
Rubel SE

Richland, Wayne & Seneca Townships 
Guernsey & Noble Co., OH

RUBEL SE
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OPERATOR:    INR OHIO, LLC
ADDRESS:

SECTION : 22 TOWNSHIP: T1N RANGE: R2W

COUNTY: GUERNSEY & NOBLE

MUNICIPALITY: RICHLAND & WAYNE TWP.

2605 CRANBERRY SQUARE,
MORGANTOWN, WV 26508

U.S.G.S. QUADRANGLES:  SENECAVILLE

DATE: 10/13/2025PROJECTION: NAD 83 STATE PLANE OHIO FIPS 3401 (US FEET)

EXHIBIT F
Rubel SE

Richland, Wayne & Seneca Townships 
Guernsey & Noble Co., OH

34059243340000
AMERICAN ENERGY LLC

SHUGERT DADDY WLS GR 1
SPUD DATE=3/14/2014
COMP DATE=5/7/2014

34059245750000PILOT
UTICA RESOURCES OPERATING

RUBEL WEST 1V 1
SPUD DATE=11/29/2019
COMP DATE=12/7/2019

RUBEL SE



Page 3 of 5 Ohio Revised Code 1509.28 Application for Unit Operations 
Rev. 05/23 

Section 5. Economic Calculation Summaries  Required 
Unitized Scenario 

Well Name 
Lateral  

Length (ft) 
Measured  
Depth (ft) 

Operating  
Costs (MM$) 

Capital  
Costs (MM$) 

Undiscounted 
Value of 

Estimated 
Recovery (MM$) 

PV0  
(MM$) 

PV10  
(MM$) 

Estimated  
Gross 

Recovery 
(BCFe) Supplement 

Total: 

Non-Unitized Scenario 

Well Name 
Lateral  

Length (ft) 
Measured  
Depth (ft) 

Operating  
Costs (MM$) 

Capital  
Costs (MM$) 

Undiscounted 
Value of 

Estimated 
Recovery (MM$) 

PV0  
(MM$) 

PV10  
(MM$) 

Estimated  
Gross 

Recovery 
(BCFe) Supplement 

Total: 

Difference 

Well Name 
Lateral  

Length (ft) 
Measured  
Depth (ft) 

Operating  
Costs (MM$) 

Capital  
Costs (MM$) 

Undiscounted 
Value of 

Estimated 
Recovery (MM$) 

PV0  
(MM$) 

PV10  
(MM$) 

Estimated  
Gross 

Recovery 
(BCFe) Supplement 

Total: 

Section 6. Attachments   Required Supplement 

Working Interest Approvals Form(s) 

Applicant's Operating Agreement 

Affidavit of Operating Agreement (if applicable) 

Georeferenced File  
Optional only for requests to amend orders for unit operations 

Rubel S 12HU 18,892 27,601 22.966 12.253 52.630 16.554 7.096 11.512

Rubel S 14HU 18,978 27,687 23.073 12.308 52.895 16.654 7.127 11.564

37,870 55,288 46.039 24.561 105.525 33.208 14.223 23.076

Rubel S 12HU 3,387 12,096 3.726 5.296 8.622 (0.706) (0.950) 2.064

Rubel S 14HU 11,558 20,267 13.796 8.963 31.568 8.217 3.745 7.043

14,945 32,363 17.522 14.259 40.190 7.511 2.795 9.107

Rubel S 12HU 15,505 15,505 19.240 6.957 44.008 17.260 8.046 9.448

Rubel S 14HU 7,420 7,420 9.277 3.345 21.327 8.437 3.382 4.521

22,925 22,925 28.517 10.302 65.335 25.697 11.428 13.969

✔

✔
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       RUBEL SE
OPERATOR:    INR OHIO, LLC
ADDRESS:

SECTION : 22 TOWNSHIP: T1N RANGE: R2W

COUNTY: GUERNSEY & NOBLE

MUNICIPALITY: RICHLAND & WAYNE TWP.

2605 CRANBERRY SQUARE,
MORGANTOWN, WV 26508

U.S.G.S. QUADRANGLES:  SENECAVILLE

DATE: 10/10/2025PROJECTION: NAD 83 STATE PLANE OHIO FIPS 3401 (US FEET)

RESERVOIR WELLS
Rubel SE

Richland & Wayne Townships 
Guernsey & Noble Co., OH

0 7,000 14,000

US Feet
1 inch equals 6,500 Feet



Well Name Operator API Number IP Date Lateral Length (ft) Distance to Rubel 

Southeast (ft)

Distance to Rubel 

Souteast (mi)

Beros NE 5H INR OHIO, LLC 34-059-24587-0000 2/11/2022 14,573.23 12,636.44 2.39

Beros NW 1H INR OHIO, LLC 34-059-24611-0000 4/5/2023 11,594.67 12,648.00 2.40

Beros SW 12H INR OHIO, LLC 34-059-24586-0000 2/11/2022 13,534.71 3,816.47 0.72

Stillion N 9H INR OHIO, LLC 34-059-24620-0000 4/5/2023 9,809.39 12,609.17 2.39

Stillion SE 8H INR OHIO, LLC 34-059-24619-0000 4/5/2023 12,747.54 1,048.30 0.20

Stiers 1H INR OHIO, LLC 34-059-24242-0000 9/15/2013 4,594.29 9,976.77 1.89

Stiers 2H INR OHIO, LLC 34-059-24244-0000 10/1/2013 4,625.95 10,657.98 2.02

Stiers 3H INR OHIO, LLC 34-059-24243-0000 8/19/2013 4,394.62 11,335.94 2.15

Rubel 1H INR OHIO, LLC 34-059-24575-0000 3/20/2020 16,746.76 587.82 0.11

Rubel West 4H INR OHIO, LLC 34-059-24618-0000 4/14/2023 18,180.01 3,228.37 0.61

Scheetz Unit 2H ANTERO 34-121-24427-0000 11/26/2013 8,178.00 1,563.57 0.30

       Rubel SE
Type Curve Wells

OFFSET WELL LIST
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ADJACENT UNIT PLAT
Rubel SE

Richland, Wayne & Seneca Townships 
Guernsey & Noble Co., OH

RUBEL SE
OPERATOR:    INR OHIO, LLC
ADDRESS:

SECTION : 22 TOWNSHIP: T1N RANGE: R2W

COUNTY: GUERNSEY & NOBLE

MUNICIPALITY: RICHLAND & WAYNE TWP.

2605 CRANBERRY SQUARE,
MORGANTOWN, WV 26508

U.S.G.S. QUADRANGLE:  SENECAVILLE

DATE: 10/13/20251 inch equals 9,000 FeetPROJECTION: NAD 83 STATE PLANE OHIO FIPS 3401 (US FEET)

Path: S:\GIS\GIS_2025\ADMIN\LHOVERMALE\RUBEL SOUTHEAST\RUBEL SOUTHEAST\RUBEL SOUTHEAST.aprx

PROPOSED UNIT

EXISITNG UNITS

TOWNSHIP

PRODUCING WELLS

DRILLED WELLS

PROPOSED WELLS
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